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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors
Maine Turnpike Authority
Portland, Maine

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Maine Turnpike Authority, a component unit of the
State of Maine, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Maine Turnpike Authority, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in financial position
and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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To the Board of Directors
Maine Turnpike Authority

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion
and analysis on pages 3-8, the trend data on infrastructure condition on page 38, the schedule of funding progress
for the retiree healthcare plan on page 38, the schedule of proportionate share of net pension liability on page 39,
and the schedule of contributions on page 39, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that comprise the
Authority’s basic financial statements. The Calculation of the Composite Debt Service Ratio on page 40, as
required by the bond resolutions and related documents, and the Statement of Activities for the State of Maine
General Purpose Financial Statements on page 41, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The Calculation of the Composite Debt Service Ratio on page 40 and the Statement of Activities for the State of
Maine General Purpose Financial Statements on page 41 is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Calculation of the Composite Debt Service
Ratio on page 40, and the Statement of Activities for the State of Maine General Purpose Financial Statements on
page 41, are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report, dated March 14, 2018, on our
consideration of the Maine Turnpike Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Maine Turnpike
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Maine Turnpike Authority’s internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

South Portland, Maine
March 14, 2018

aec
CAS Macpage signature 11.6
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  THE MAINE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

December 31, 2017 

The management of the Maine Turnpike Authority (the Authority) offers this narrative overview and analysis of the 
Authority’s financial activities for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  This discussion and analysis is 
designed to assist the reader in focusing on the significant financial issues and activities and to identify any 
significant changes in financial position.  The information presented here should be read in conjunction with the 
Authority’s basic financial statements.  

Financial Highlights 

Net operating income for the Maine Turnpike Authority was $57,834,843 and $64,107,568 for calendar years 2017 
and 2016, respectively.  The decrease in net operating income is mostly due to an increase in Net Fare Revenue 
offset by a greater increase in Preservation Expenses.  Total Revenues increased 2.5% in 2017, which is mostly due 
to an increase in traffic of 3.0% over the prior year.  The increase in Operating Expenses over the prior year is due 
to an increase in Preservation Expenses (accelerated bridge repair and paving programs), storm related costs, and 
increased personnel costs related to Maine State Police Troop G.  

Current year activity produced a change in net position of $41,788,573 compared to $46,476,966 for fiscal years 
2017 and 2016, respectively.  The term “net position” refers to the difference between assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.  At the close of calendar year 2017, the Authority had a net 
position of $324,704,149, an increase of 15% over calendar year 2016. At the close of calendar year 2016, the 
Authority’s net position was $282,915,576.  The Authority’s overall financial position has improved as shown by the 
increase in net position. 

Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s basic financial statements.  
The Authority’s financial statements are presented in a manner similar to a private-sector business and have been 
prepared according to accounting principles generally accepted (GAAP) in the United States.  Revenues are recorded 
as they are earned and expenses are recorded as they are incurred, regardless of when cash is received or disbursed. 

Basic Financial Statements 

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Authority’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases and 
decreases in net position serve as a relative indicator of the change in financial position of the Authority. 

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position shows the result of the Authority’s total 
operations during the fiscal year and reflects both operating and non-operating activities.  Changes in net position 
reflect the fiscal period operating impact upon the overall financial position of the Authority. 
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Management Discussion and Analysis, continued 

The statement of cash flows provides a detailed analysis of all sources and uses of cash. The direct method of cash 
flows is presented, ending with a reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities. 
The statement of cash flows is divided into the following activities: operating, capital and related financing, and 
investing. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

The notes provide additional information that is essential to fully understand the data provided in the basic financial 
statements. 

Other Information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and notes, this report also presents required supplementary 
information concerning infrastructure condition, the retiree healthcare plan, and information on the Authority’s 
participation in the Maine Public Employer’s Retirement System.  Additionally, certain supplementary information 
concerning the Authority’s debt service ratio, as defined by the bond resolution, is included. 

Financial Analysis 

Maine Turnpike Authority’s Statement of Net Position 

2017 2016
Assets and Deferred Outflows
Current Assets 98,975,922$         85,331,731$         
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 629,511,514         604,788,325         
Non-Current Assets -                          13,058,570           
Non-Current Restricted Assets 52,360,609           52,773,175           
Other Assets 2,681,855              5,045,291              
Deferred Outflows of Resources 19,856,878           23,759,835           
     Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 803,386,778$       784,756,927$       

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows
Current Liabilities 55,536,897           53,861,896           

376,014,682         400,977,616         
Other Post Employment Benefits Liability 21,620,253           19,866,253           
Other Non-current Liabilities 2,378,984              2,330,991              
Net Pension Liabilities 16,098,398           20,031,423           
Deferred Inflow of Resources 7,033,415              4,773,172              
     Total Liablilities and Deferred Inflows 478,682,629$       501,841,351$       

Net Position:
     Net Investment in Capital Assets 293,811,514         251,533,325         
     Restricted 31,972,890           33,469,849           
     Unrestricted (Deficit) (1,080,255)            (2,087,598)            
     Total Net Position 324,704,149$       282,915,576$       
          Total Liabilities, Deferred Outflows and Net Position 803,386,778$       784,756,927$       

December 31,

Bonds Payable, Net of Unamortized Premiums 
      and Discounts, net of current position
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Management Discussion and Analysis, continued 

As noted earlier, net position serves as an indicator of the Authority’s overall financial position.  In the case of the 
Authority, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $324,704,149 at the close of 
2017.  This represents an increase of $41,788,573 (15%) over the net position balance of $282,915,576 as of 
December 31, 2016  

The largest portion of the Authority’s net position reflects its net investment in capital assets (e.g., right-of-way, 
roads, bridges, toll equipment, etc.) less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.  The Authority 
uses these capital assets to provide service and consequently, these assets are not available for liquidating liabilities 
or for other spending.  The net investment in Capital Assets was $293,811,514 and $251,533,325 as of December 
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Restricted net position is reserved for projects defined in the bond resolutions and applicable bond issue official 
statements. The Authority’s restricted net position was $31,972,889 and $33,469,849 as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, respectively.  The unrestricted net position for the year ended December 31, 2017 is negative due to recording 
the net pension liability as required by GASB 68. 

The Maine Turnpike Authority’s Changes in Net Position 
 

2017 2016
Revenues:

Net Fare Revenues 136,065,720$       133,822,432$       
Concession Rental 4,997,386              4,548,363              
Investment Income 1,168,282              693,425                 
Miscellaneous 1,947,370              1,504,164              

Total Revenues 144,178,758$       140,568,384$       

Expenses (Income):
Operations 24,715,918            23,786,633            
Maintenance 34,926,336            32,472,107            
Administrative 2,440,987              2,491,143              
Depreciation 7,717,213              6,368,706              
Preservation 16,137,645            11,070,694            
Interest Expense 17,047,684            17,948,403            
Other (595,598)                (46,268)                  

Total Expenses 102,390,185$       94,091,418$         

Changes in Net Position 41,788,573           46,476,966           

Net Position, beginning of year 282,915,576$       236,438,610$       

Net Position, end of year 324,704,149$       282,915,576$       

For the Years Ended December 31,
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Management Discussion and Analysis, continued 
 
The Authority’s net fare revenues, which represent approximately 95% of all operating revenues, increased 
$2,243,288 (1.7%) in 2017.  The increase is due to an increase in traffic of 3.0% over the prior year.  Concession 
Rental income increased $449,023 (9.9%) in 2017, due to increased customer patronage.  Operations, Maintenance 
and Administrative expenses increased $3,333,358 (5.7%) in 2017.  This increase is mainly attributed to an increase 
in line items that were weather related, such as salt, truck parts and snow plowing equipment. The turnpike corridor 
had one of the snowiest winters on record.  A portion of the increase is also due to an increase in personnel costs 
related to Maine State Police Troop G. In 2016 the State of Maine increased trooper wages by 15%  to be more 
competitive with other law enforcement jurisdictions in the state. Preservation expenses increased $5,066,951 
(45.8%) in 2017 due to the expansion of the bridge repair and paving programs. 

Capital Assets and Debt Administration  

Capital Assets 

The Authority’s investment in capital assets as of December 31, 2017 amounted to $716,402,982 of gross asset 
value with accumulated depreciation of $86,891,468, leaving a net book value of $629,511,514.  Capital assets 
include right-of-way, roads, bridges, buildings, equipment and vehicles.  Please see Note 3 of the financial 
statements for a schedule of changes in the Authority’s capital assets. 

Capital asset acquisitions are capitalized at cost.  Acquisitions are funded through debt issuance and Authority 
revenues. 

The Authority has been in the process of updating its electronic Toll System, which was installed in 2004, and is 
being replaced by Transcore’s Infinity system.  This project will upgrade each toll plaza location with improved traffic 
counting and video/image technology to continue the highly accurate data collection the Authority requires.  In 
2017, the upgrades to Exit 32 (Biddeford), Exit 36 (Saco), Exit 46 Northbound (Jetport), and Exit 53 (West Falmouth) 
were completed.  The toll plaza on the Falmouth Spur was reconfigured to allow for an ORT (Open Road Tolling) 
Plaza, which allows patrons to travel through the plaza at highway speed in the center lanes or allow those that 
want to pay cash that option as well.  Construction has begun on Exit 44 (I-295) ORT conversion and is anticipated 
to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2019.  There are three plazas that remain to be coverted and are currently 
in the planning stages: Exit 7 (York), Exit 45 (Maine Mall) and Exit 103 (Gardiner). The Exit 7 and 103 plazas will be 
ORT.  The interchange in Gray was also upgraded to allow easier access to patrons heading north.  Also in 2017, fuel 
tanks and the corresponding fuel systems were installed at each of the maintenance facilities to allow easier access 
to our personnel as well as for inventory controls.  Lastly, two bridge rehabilitation projects were completed, 
Winthrop Road and Maxwell Road.   

Modified Approach for Infrastructure Assets 

The Maine Turnpike Authority has elected to use the modified approach to infrastructure reporting.  This means 
that, in lieu of reporting depreciation on infrastructure, the Authority reports the costs associated with maintaining 
the existing asset in good condition as preservation expense.  Infrastructure assets include:  roads, bridges, 
interchanges, tunnels, right of way, drainage, guard rails, and lighting systems associated with the road.  Pursuant 
to its bond covenants, the Authority maintains a reserve maintenance fund for these preservation expenses.  For 
fiscal 2017, $16,137,645 was spent for preservation compared to an estimated cost of $16,900,500. 
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Management Discussion and Analysis, continued 

The roadways are rated on a 10-point scale, with 10 meaning that every aspect of the roadway is in new and perfect 
condition.  The Authority’s system as a whole is given an overall rating, indicating the average condition of all 
roadways operated by the Authority.  The assessment of condition is made by visual inspection designed to reveal 
any condition that would reduce highway-user benefits below the maximum level of service.  The Authority’s policy 
is to maintain the roadway condition at a rating of 8 (generally good condition) or better.  The results of the 2017 
inspection states that the Maine Turnpike has been maintained in generally good condition and presents a favorable 
appearance, which is the same assessment the Authority received in 2016. 

Long-term Debt 

The Authority has outstanding bonds payable of $364,775,389 and $31,879,293 for revenue and subordinated 
bonds, respectively (both net of unamortized bond discounts and premiums).  Please see Note 6 of the financial 
statements for the annual principal payment requirements on revenue and subordinated bonds as of December 31, 
2017. 

The Authority has a cap, set by the Legislature, on the amount of revenue bonds that can be outstanding at any 
given time. The current bond cap is $636,000,000, which was increased $150,000,000 by the Legislature in 2017. As 
of December 31, 2017, outstanding revenue bonds were $335,700,000, leaving $300,300,000 available under the 
cap. 

In February 2018, the Authority issued $150,000,000 of revenue bonds maturing in 2047.  Proceeds from the 
bonds will fund, along with cash from operations, the Authority’s five-year capital improvement plan. The 
Authority last issued new debt (revenue bonds) in 2012 and has been funding its capital improvement program 
with cash generated from operations since then. 

The Authority’s current bond ratings are as follows: 

  Fitch   AA- 
  Moody’s  Aa3 
  Standard & Poor’s AA-  
 
In 2017, Fitch, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s completed their review of the Authority’s finances and each agency 
affirmed the Authority’s ratings and gave a stable outlook.   
 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 

The general bond resolution requires the Authority to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with cash and 
investments or with a surety policy or letter of credit.   

Currently, the Debt Service Reserve requirement is approximately $16,821,933, which is fifty percent of maximum 
annual debt service (MADS).  The debt service reserve requirement is fully funded with cash. The Authority has 
approximately $9,000,000 of surety bonds in place, however, with the exception of Assured Guaranty (FSA), the 
sureties are rated lower than the Authority’s bond ratings and therefore do not count towards the Debt Service 
Reserve requirement. 
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Management Discussion and Analysis, continued 

In 2014 FSA, now Assured Guaranty, was upgraded by Moody’s and now meets the debt service reserve fund 
requirements towards one half of MADS.  The value of the Assured Guaranty sureties is approximately $4,100,000. 

Please see Note 7 of the Financial Statements for more discussion of the Debt Service Reserve Fund.    

Budgetary Controls 

Each year the Maine Turnpike Authority presents their Operating, Reserve Maintenance and Capital budgets to the 
Transportation Committee and it is ultimately voted on by the State of Maine Legislature.  The Authority has made 
several decisions which have resulted in significant reductions to preceding budgets that have been received very 
positively by the Committee and the Legislature.  More importantly, actual expenses have begun to prove that these 
decisions have positively affected the Authority’s outcome without negatively impacting the mission of the 
Authority which is to provide a safe and efficient highway operated at a reasonable cost.      

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances for all those with an 
interest in its finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or request for additional 
financial information should be addressed to the Chief Financial Officer, Maine Turnpike Authority, 2360 Congress 
Street, Portland, ME 04102; or email your questions to info@maineturnpike.com. 
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

See independents auditors’ report. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 2017 2016

Current Assets:
     Cash and Equivalents 9,833,333$         6,830,249$         
     Restricted Cash and Equivalents to meet
          current restricted liabilities 28,796,307         40,579,172         
     Investments - Short Term 12,984,840         -                       
     Restricted Investments - Short Term 39,194,642         29,417,910         
     Accounts Receivable and Accrued Interest Receivable 5,505,192            5,373,982            
     Inventory 1,150,997            1,289,570            
     Other - Current Assets 1,510,611            1,840,848            

       Total Current Assets 98,975,922         85,331,731         

Non-Current Assets:
Investments - Long Term -                       13,058,570         

     Restricted Assets
          Cash and Equivalents 45,927,839         38,379,510         
          Investments - Long Term 6,202,463            14,206,810         
          Accounts Receivable and Accrued Interest Receivable 230,307               186,855               

       Total Restricted Assets 52,360,609         52,773,175         

Other Assets
Prepaid Bond Insurance - Net 311,855               400,291               

   MDOT Prepaid Transfer 2,370,000            4,645,000            

Total Other Assets 2,681,855           5,045,291           

Capital Assets not being Depreciated:
     Land and Infrastructure 520,926,385       505,323,830       
     Construction in Progress 23,839,887         29,094,724         
Capital Assets net of Accumulated Depreciation:
     Property and Equipment 84,745,242         70,369,771         

        Total Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation 629,511,514       604,788,325       

        Total Non-Current Assets 684,553,978       675,665,360       

TOTAL ASSETS 783,529,900       760,997,092       

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred Loss on Refunding Bonds 11,259,153         12,500,108         
Deferred Pension Outflows 8,597,725            11,259,727         

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 19,856,878         23,759,835         

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 803,386,778$     784,756,927$     

December 31,
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION, continued 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION 2017 2016

Current Liabilities Payable from Unrestricted Assets:
     Accounts, Contracts and Retainage Payable 4,146,536$         4,618,261$         
     Accrued Salary, Vacation and Sick Leave Payable 3,082,055            2,843,395            
     Unearned Fare Revenue 10,357,497         9,585,714            
     Unearned Concession Rentals 254,167               285,414               

      Total Current Liabilities Payable from Unrestricted Assets 17,840,255         17,332,784         

Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets:
     Accounts, Contracts and Retainage Payable 8,018,551            7,329,503            
     Accrued Salary, Vacation and Sick Leave Payable 242,289               202,126               
     Bond Interest Payable 8,291,602            8,756,083            
     Current Portion of Revenue Bonds and Subordinated Debt Payable 20,640,000         19,830,000         
     Other Current Liabilities 504,200               411,400               

      Total Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets 37,696,642         36,529,112         

      Total Current Liabilities 55,536,897         53,861,896         

Non-current Liabilities:
     Long-term Revenue Bonds and Subordinated Debt Payable 376,014,682       400,977,616       
     Other Post Employment Benefits Liability 21,620,253         19,866,253         
     Other Non-current Liabilities 2,378,984            2,330,991            

Net Pension Liability 16,098,398         20,031,423         

     Total Non-current Liabilities 416,112,317       443,206,283       

     Total Liabilities 471,649,214       497,068,179       

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred Pension Inflows 7,033,415            4,773,172            
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 478,682,629       501,841,351       

Net Position:
     Net Investment in Capital Assets 293,811,514       251,533,325       
     Restricted 31,972,889         33,469,849         
     Unrestricted (Deficit) (1,080,255)          (2,087,598)          
          Total Net Position 324,704,149       282,915,576       

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position 803,386,778$     784,756,927$     

December 31,

        
 

See independents auditors’ report. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
 

2017 2016
REVENUES

Operating Revenue:
Net Fare Revenue 136,065,720$          133,822,432$          
Concession Rentals 4,997,385                 4,548,363                 
Miscellaneous 1,947,370                 1,504,164                 

Total Operating Revenues 143,010,475             139,874,959            
Interest Income

Revenue Fund 113,142 152,920
Reserve Maintenance Fund 420,927 183,486
Improvement Account 97,909 20,395
Interchange Account 97,197 58,339
Maine Department of Transportation Account 33,292 6,752

Total Interest Income 762,467                     421,892                    
Total Revenues 143,772,942             140,296,851            

EXPENSES
Operating Expenses:

Operations 24,715,918               23,786,633              
Maintenance 34,926,336               32,472,107              
Administration 2,440,987                 2,491,143                 
Depreciation 7,717,213                 6,368,706                 
Reserve Maintenance - Preservation 16,137,645               11,070,694              

Total Operating Expenses 85,938,099               76,189,283              
Net Operating Income 57,834,843               64,107,568              

Non-Operating Revenue/(Expenses):
Investment Income 405,816                     271,533                    
Loss on Sale and Disposal of Capital Assets (122,945)                   (1,060,230)               
Interest Expense (17,047,684)              (17,948,403)             
Bond Insurance Amortization (88,436)                     (88,436)                     
Bond Premium/Discount Amortization 4,322,934                 4,630,889                 
Deferred Loss on Refunding Amortization (1,240,955)                (1,240,955)               
MDOT Prepaid Transfer Amortization (2,275,000)                (2,195,000)               

Total Non-Operating Revenue/(Expenses) (16,046,270)              (17,630,602)             
Change in Net Position 41,788,573               46,476,966              

Net Position at beginning of year 282,915,576             236,438,610            
Net Position at end of year 324,704,149$          282,915,576$          

For the Years Ended December 31,

  
 
 

See independents auditors’ report. 
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

2017 2016
Operating Activities:

Cash Received from Tolls/Customers 175,400,967$        169,385,514$        
Cash Payments to Suppliers (81,456,083)           (69,610,962)           
Cash Payments to Employees (24,074,971)           (23,141,757)           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 69,869,913           76,632,795           

Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (33,175,044)           (43,148,582)           
Interest Paid on Revenue Bonds (16,088,865)           (16,879,028)           
Payment of Principal on Revenue Bonds (17,555,000)           (16,505,000)           
Interest Paid on Subordinated Debt Bonds (1,423,300)             (1,505,613)             
Payment of Principal on Special Obligation Bonds (2,275,000)             (2,195,000)             

Net Cash Used in Capital and Financing Activities (70,517,209)          (80,233,223)          

Investing Activities:
   Purchase of Investments (10,000,000)           (45,610,444)           

Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Investments 8,046,463              85,142,399            
Interest Received 1,369,381              605,632                  

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities (584,156)               40,137,587           

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents (1,231,452)             36,537,159            

Cash and Equivalents at Beginning of Year 85,788,931            49,251,772            

Cash and Equivalents at End of Year 84,557,479$         85,788,931$         

Cash and Equivalents - Unrestricted 9,833,333$            6,830,249$            
Restricted Cash and Equivalents - Current 28,796,307            40,579,172            
Restricted Cash and Equivalents - Non-Current 45,927,839            38,379,510            

84,557,479$         85,788,931$         

For the Years Ended December 31,

                
 
 
 
 

 
 

See independents auditors’ report. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, continued 
 

2017 2016
Reconciliation of Net Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by 
Operating Activities:

Income from Operations 57,834,843$     64,107,568$     
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash

 provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation 7,717,213         6,368,706         
Interest (Income)/Expense Included in Operating Revenue (762,467)           (421,892)           

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable (123,713)           (714,069)           
Prepaid Accounts 330,237             (832,983)           
Inventory 138,574             314,794             
Accounts, Contracts and Retainage Payable 972,648             3,467,829         
OPEB Valuation 1,754,000         1,836,000         
Net Pension Liability and Deferred Inflows/Outflows 989,220             1,434,677         
Unearned Toll and Concession Revenue 740,535             799,320             
Accrued Salary, Vacation and Sick Leave Payable 278,823             272,845             

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 69,869,913$     76,632,795$     

For the Years Ended December 31,

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

See independents auditors’ report. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE MAINE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 
Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures 
 
Reporting Entity – The Maine Turnpike Authority (the Authority) is a body corporate and politic created by an act 
of the Legislature of the State of Maine, Chapter 69 of the Private and Special Laws of 1941 as amended, authorized 
and empowered to construct, maintain and operate a turnpike at such a location as shall be approved by the State 
Highway Commission and to issue turnpike revenue bonds of the Authority, payable solely from revenues of the 
Authority.  Under the provisions of the Act, turnpike revenue bonds and interest thereon shall not be deemed debt 
or liability or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State of Maine. 

During 1982, the Legislature of the State of Maine, Chapter 595 of the Public Laws of the State of Maine 1982, 
authorized an act to amend the Maine Turnpike Authority Statutes.  This act states that the Maine Turnpike 
Authority shall continue in existence until such a time as the Legislature shall provide for termination and all 
outstanding indebtedness of the Authority shall be repaid or an amount sufficient to repay that indebtedness shall 
be set aside in trust. 

In evaluating the Authority as a reporting entity, management has addressed all potential component units for 
which the Authority may be financially accountable and, as such, should be included within the Authority’s financial 
statements. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14 as amended 
by GASB Statement No. 61, the Authority is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the 
organization’s governing board and (1) it is able to impose its will on the organization or (2) there is a potential for 
the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or impose specific financial burdens on the Authority. 
Additionally, the Authority is required to consider other organizations for which the nature and significance of their 
relationship with the Authority are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to 
be misleading. Based on the application of these criteria, there are no other entities that should be included as part 
of these financial statements. 

Under these standards, the Authority is considered to be a component unit of the State of Maine. 

Basis of Accounting – The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the standard-setting body for 
governmental accounting and financial reporting.  The GASB periodically updates its codification of the existing 
Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards which, along with subsequent GASB pronouncements 
(standards and interpretations), constitute GAAP for governmental units.  GAAP also includes guidance from the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in the publication entitled, State and Local Governments.  The 
Authority prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America for governmental proprietary funds, which are similar 
to those for private business enterprises.  Accordingly, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when incurred.  Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating 
activity.  Operating revenues arise from providing goods or services to outside parties for a fee.  The intent of the 
governing body is that the operating costs, including administration and depreciation, of providing goods or services 
to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges.  Revenues and 
expenses that are not derived directly from operations are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses 
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued  

Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses – The Authority’s operating revenues and expenses consist of revenues earned 
and expenses incurred relating to the operation and maintenance of its System.  Operating revenues for fares are 
recognized as the vehicles pass through the toll system.  Prepayments on account are recorded as deferred fare 
revenue.  Concession rental income is recognized based on the terms of the rental agreements.  Net fare revenue 
is net of credit card fees of $2,383,238 and $2,059,916 for 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Non-operating revenues – Non-operating revenues consists of the amortization of bond premiums and discounts 
realized on previously issued debt, investment income earned and non-operating accounts and gains or loss from 
the sale of capital assets.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Interest Income on Operating Accounts – Interest income generated from on-going operations is included in 
operating revenue. 

Cash and Equivalents – For purposes of the statements of cash flow, demand deposit accounts with commercial 
banks, and cash invested in short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition are considered cash equivalents. 

Investments – Investments are carried at fair value.  Accrued interest paid upon the purchase of investments is 
recognized as interest income in the period it is earned. 

Fair Value Measurements - Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  In determining fair value, the 
Authority uses various methods, including market, income and cost approaches.  Based on these approaches, the 
Authority often utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, 
including assumptions about risk and/or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique.  These inputs 
can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs.  The Authority utilizes valuation 
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  Based on the 
observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques, the Authority is required to provide the following 
information according to the fair value hierarchy.  The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the 
information used to determine fair values.  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and 
disclosed in one of the following three categories: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such 
as the New York Stock Exchange. 
 

• Level 2 – Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, 
quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by 
observable market data. 

 
• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments 

whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar 
techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant 
management judgment or estimation. 
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued          

Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued 
 
In determining the appropriate levels, the Authority performs a detailed analysis of the assets and liabilities.  At 
each reporting period, all assets and liabilities for which the fair value measurement is based on significant 
unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3. 

Accounts Receivable – Accounts receivable consists primarily of toll revenues due from commercial accounts and 
other tolling agencies.  The Authority obtains surety bonds to cover commercial accounts receivable.  Management 
believes that all accounts receivable as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are fully collectable.  Therefore, no 
allowance for doubtful accounts was recorded. 

Inventory – Inventory consists of EZ Pass transponders, salt and fuel for MTA vehicles.  The EZ Pass transponders 
will be sold to customers and are valued using the First-In First-Out (FIFO) method.  Salt and vehicle fuel, to be used 
in operations, are valued using a weighted average method.  Inventory items are carried at the lower of cost or 
market.   
 
Other Assets – Expenses that benefit more than one reporting period are charged to Prepaid Expenses and 
expensed over its service period.  Examples include insurance premiums, software site licenses and service 
contracts.  In 1996 the Authority issued the Series 1996 special obligation bonds to fund various projects for the 
Maine Department of Transportation (MaineDOT).  The proceeds were recorded as a prepaid expense and are being 
amortized over the life of the debt service of the bonds.  The bonds were refunded in 1998 and again in 2008.  The 
prepaid expense will be fully amortized in 2018. 
 
Restricted Assets – Restricted assets of the Authority represent bond proceeds designated for construction, and 
other monies required to be restricted for debt service, operations, maintenance, renewal and replacement. 

Capital Assets – All capital assets are recorded on the balance sheet at historical cost.  Capital assets are included 
in one of the following categories: Infrastructure; Land and Land Improvements; Buildings; Vehicles; Toll System; 
Computer and Other Equipment; Intangible Assets; and Construction in Progress.   
 

Costs to acquire additional capital assets, and to replace existing assets or otherwise prolong their useful lives, are 
capitalized for toll equipment, buildings, toll facilities, other related costs and furniture and equipment.  The 
Authority has elected to use the modified approach to infrastructure reporting.  This means that, in lieu of reporting 
depreciation on infrastructure, the Authority reports as preservation expense the costs associated with maintaining 
the existing road in good condition.  Infrastructure assets include roads, bridges, interchanges, tunnels, right of way, 
drainage, guardrails, and lighting systems associated with the road. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
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Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued 
 
Depreciation of toll equipment, buildings, toll facilities, other related costs, signs, software and furniture and 
equipment is computed using the straight-line method, using the full-month convention, over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets as follows: 
 
 Buildings     30 – 50 years   
 Building Improvements   15 – 20 years       
 Land Improvements (exhaustible)          15 years 
 Toll Equipment      5 – 10 years 
 Furniture and Fixtures     5 – 15 years 
 Software      3 – 10 years 
 Computers, Printers and IT Equipment   3 –   5 years 
 Other Equipment (incl. Vehicles)   5 – 20 years 
 
The following minimum capitalization thresholds for capitalizing fixed assets are as follows: 
 
 Land and Improvements (non-exhaustible) $ 1 
 Land Improvements (exhaustible)  $     5,000 
 Buildings and Improvements    $   25,000 
 Machinery/Equipment/Vehicles   $     5,000 
 Computers, Printers & IT Equipment  $     5,000 
 Software     $   10,000 
 Infrastructure     $ 100,000 
 
Under the modified approach, infrastructure assets are considered to be “indefinite lived” assets; that is, the assets 
themselves will last indefinitely and are, therefore, not depreciated.  Costs related to maintenance, renewal and 
replacement for these assets are not capitalized, but instead are considered to be period costs and are included in 
preservation expense. 
 
Construction in Progress represents costs incurred by the Authority for in-process activities designed to expand, 
replace, or extend the lives of existing property and equipment. 
 
Retainage Payable – Retainage payable represents amounts billed to the Authority by contractors for which 
payment is not due pursuant to retained percentage provisions in construction contracts until substantial 
completion of performance by contractor and acceptance by the Authority. 
 
Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave Payable – Accrued vacation and sick leave payable includes accumulated vacation 
pay and vested sick pay. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
Accrued Salaries Payable – Accrued salaries payable includes salary and wage expense incurred at the end of the 
period but not paid until the following period, which amounted to $605,105 and $526,164 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are included on the statement of net position under Accrued Salary, 
Vacation and Sick Leave Payable. 
 
Unearned Toll Revenue – The Authority offers a prepaid balance program which allows patrons to carry a balance 
on their account for future toll expenses.  This balance is reduced by each trip through the tolls and can be increased  
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued 
 
by the patron at any time but also includes a minimum balance set by the Authority.  The Authority offers a Volume 
Discount Plan for passenger vehicles for which revenue is earned based on the vehicle passing through the toll 
system.  Any amount remaining in the patrons account is accounted for as unearned revenue. 
 
Bond Premium, Discount and Issuance Costs – Bond premiums and discounts associated with the issuance of bonds 
are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the life of the bonds.  Bond issuance costs such as bond 
insurance are amortized using the straight-line method over the life of the bonds.  Other bond issuance costs, such 
as consulting, legal and underwriter fees are expensed in the period they are incurred.      
 
Refunded Bonds – The Authority defeased certain bonds in 2004, 2005, 2008, 2012, 2014 and 2015 by placing cash 
received from the advanced refunding into an irrevocable escrow account to provide for all future debt service 
payments on the defeased bonds.  Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are 
not included in the Authority’s balance sheets. 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources - In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows 
of resources, represents a consumption of net position that apples to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 
as an outflow of resources (expense) until then.  The Authority has two items that qualifies for reporting in this 
category.  The first is a deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded 
debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded 
or refunding debt.  The second deferred charge relates to recognition of the net pension liability and can include:  
the differences between expected and actual experience, change in assumptions, the net difference between 
projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments, and changes between the Authority’s contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions, and also Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date. 
 
Deferred Inflows of Resources - In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The deferred inflows of resources recognized on the statement 
of net position and balance sheet relate to the net pension liability, which include the net difference between 
projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments and changes in proportion and differences between the 
Authority’s contributions. 
 
Use of Estimates – The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure for contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements, and 
reported amounts of the revenues and expenditures/expenses during the fiscal year.  Actual results could vary from 
estimates that were used. 
 
Use of Restricted/Unrestricted Net Position – When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted 
and unrestricted assets are available, the Authority’s policy is to apply restricted net position first. 
 
Reclassifications – Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2016 Statement of Net Position to correspond 
with the current year’s format. The change in net position was not affected. 
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements – In June 2015, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plan Other Than Pension Plans (OPEB).  This statement improves 
accounting and financial reporting for OPEB.  This statement replaces GASB Statement No. 45 and establishes 
standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, 
and expense.  The new statement is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017. 
 
In June 2017, the GASB issued GASB 87, Leases.  This new standard will provide users of the financial statements a 
more accurate picture of the assets and the long-term financial obligations of governments that lease.  Lessees will 
recognize a lease liability and an intangible asset representing the lessee’s right to use the leased asset and lessors 
will recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources.  The new leasing standard will apply for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2019.  The standard requires retroactive application to previously issued 
financial statements for 2019 and 2018, if presented. 
 
Note 2 – Deposits and Investments 
 
Deposits  
 
Custodial Credit Risk-Authority Deposits:  For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank 
failure, the Authority’s deposits may not be returned to it.  As of December 31, 2017, the Authority reported 
deposits of $346,922 with bank balances of $460,016.  The entire balance of $460,016 was covered by the F.D.I.C. 
As of December 31, 2016, the Authority reported deposits of $351,909 with bank balances of $921,126.  The entire 
balance of $921,126 was covered by the F.D.I.C. ($495,921) or by additional insurance purchased on behalf of the 
Authority by the respective banking institutions ($425,205). 
 
Investments 
 
At December 31, 2017, the Authority had the following investments and maturities:   
          
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
At December 31, 2016, the Authority had the following investments and maturities:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fair Value Less Than 1 Year 1-5 Years More Than 5 Years

Money Market 31,356,387$              31,356,387$         -$                         -$                             
U.S. Government Securities 11,427,484                 11,427,484            -                            -                               
U.S. Government Obligations 27,025,558                 20,823,095            6,202,463               -                               
Federated Treasury Obligation Fund 72,783,073                 72,783,073            -                            -                               

Total Investments 142,592,502$           136,390,039$      6,202,463$            -$                             

Fair Value Less Than 1 Year 1-5 Years More Than 5 Years

Money Market 23,402,847$      23,402,847$         -$                            -$                                
U.S. Government Securities 6,408,983           6,408,983             -                              -                                  
U.S. Government Obligations 33,280,440         6,015,060             27,265,380            -                                  
Federated Treasury Obligation Fund 79,028,042         79,028,042 -                              -                                  

Total Investments 142,120,312$   114,854,932$     27,265,380$        -$                               
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 2 – Deposits and Investments, continued 
 
Deposits and investments are as follows: 
  
   
 
 
 
Deposits and investments have been reported as follows in the financial statements: 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fair Value 
 
Fair Values of Assets measured on a recurring basis at December 31 are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There were no assets classified Level 3 as of December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016. 

2017 2016
Deposits 346,922$               351,909$                   
Investment 142,592,502         142,120,312             

Total Deposits and Investments 142,939,424$      142,472,221$          

2017 2016
Cash and Equivalents 9,833,333$            6,830,249$            
Current Restricted Cash and Equivalents 28,796,307            40,579,172            
Noncurrent Restricted Cash and Equivalents 45,927,839            38,379,510            
Investments - Short Term 12,984,840            -                           
Current Restricted Investments - Short Term 39,194,642            29,417,910            
Investments - Long Term -                           13,058,570            
Restricted Investments - Long Term 6,202,463               14,206,810            

Total Deposits and Investments 142,939,424$       142,472,221$       

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2017
Cash Equivalents 346,922              346,922           -                   -              
Money Market 31,356,387        31,356,387     -                   -              
U.S. Government Securities 11,427,484        11,427,484     -                   -              
U.S. Government Obligations 27,025,558        27,025,558     -                   -              
Federated Treasury Obligations Fund 72,783,073        -                   72,783,073     -              

142,939,424$   70,156,351$  72,783,073$  -$           

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2016
Cash Equivalents 351,909              351,909           -                    -              
Money Market 23,402,847        23,402,847      -                    -              
U.S. Government Securities 6,408,983          6,408,983        -                    -              
U.S. Government Obligations 33,280,440        33,280,440      -                    -              
Federated Treasury Obligations Fund 79,028,042        -                    79,028,042      -              

142,472,221$   63,444,179$  79,028,042$  -$           



 

2017 Financial Statements – The Maine Turnpike Authority 

 21 

 

Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 2 – Deposits and Investments, continued 
 
Interest Rate Risk:  The Authority’s policy for investment rate risk is as follows:  Portfolio maturities will provide for 
stability of income and reasonable liquidity; liquidity will be assured through practices ensuring that the next 
disbursement date is covered through maturities to be staggered to avoid undue concentration in a specific 
maturity sector. 
 
Maturities selected will provide investments or marketable securities which can be sold to raise cash in a day’s 
notice without loss of principal; and, risks of market price volatility will be controlled through maturity 
diversification such that aggregate price losses on instruments with maturities exceeding one year shall not be 
greater than coupon interest on investment income received from the balance of the portfolio.   
 
Credit Risk: Maine statutes authorize the Authority to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies 
and repurchase agreements.   The Authority does not have a formal policy related to credit rate risk.  The Federal 
Treasury Obligations Fund is a money market fund and is rated AAAm by Standard & Poors.  
 
Custodial credit risk:  investments – For investments, this is the risk that in the event of failure of the counterparty, 
the Authority will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in possession 
of an outside party.  The Authority is authorized to invest in: obligations of the U.S. government and its agencies 
provided they are full faith and credit obligations fully insured or collateralized certificates of deposit at commercial  
banks and savings and loan associations, repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury or Agency 
securities; and money market mutual funds whose portfolios consist of government securities. 
 
The Authority’s investment policy is to attain a market rate of return considered reasonable under generally 
accepted market principles throughout budgetary and economic cycles while preserving and protecting capital in 
the overall portfolio thus ensuring prudent use of public funds and preservation of the public’s trust.  The standard 
of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “prudent investor” standard and shall be applied in the 
context of managing the overall portfolio.  All security transactions, including collateral for repurchase agreements, 
entered into by the MTA shall be conducted on a “delivery vs. payment” basis.  Securities will be held by a third 
party custodian, or Trust Department designated by the Executive Director, CFO, or Director of Finance and 
evidenced by safekeeping receipts.   
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 3 – Capital Assets 
 
A Summary of changes to capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows: 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A Summary of changes to capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2016 is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Balance 
12/31/2016 Additions Transfers Disposals

Balance 
12/31/2017

Capitalized Assets Not Being Depreciated (cost)
Land 46,286,032$     63,501           3,427,021      -                    49,776,554$     
Infrastructure 459,037,798     -                      12,397,952    (285,919)      471,149,831     
Construction in Progress 29,094,724       29,645,749    (34,900,586)  -                    23,839,887       
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 534,418,554     29,709,250    (19,075,613)  (285,919)      544,766,272     

Capitalized Assets Being Depreciated (cost)
Land Improvements (exhaustible) 13,662,441       -                      3,642,280      (30,208)        17,274,513       
Buildings 68,154,199       -                      1,324,047      (435,239)      69,043,007       
Machinery and Equipment 70,054,773       3,072,449      14,109,286    (1,917,318)  85,319,190       
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 151,871,413     3,072,449      19,075,613    (2,382,765)  171,636,710     

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:
Land Improvements (exhaustible) (7,893,445)        (611,804)        -                      30,208         (8,475,041)        
Buildings (27,416,499)      (2,228,956)     -                      424,257       (29,221,198)      
Machinery and Equipment (46,191,698)      (4,876,453)     -                      1,872,922    (49,195,229)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (81,501,642)      (7,717,213)     -                      2,327,387    (86,891,468)      
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, net 70,369,771       (4,644,764)     19,075,613    (55,378)        84,745,242       
Total Capital Assets 604,788,325     25,064,486    -                      (341,297)      629,511,514$   

Balance 
12/31/2015 Additions Transfers Disposals

Balance 
12/31/2016

Capitalized Assets Not Being Depreciated (cost)
Land 41,388,232$     912,772          3,985,028      -                     46,286,032$     
Infrastructure 440,119,523     -                       19,789,766    (871,492)      459,037,798     
Construction in Progress 25,419,732        40,444,051    (36,769,060)   -                     29,094,724        
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 506,927,487     41,356,823    (12,994,266)   (871,492)      534,418,554     

Capitalized Assets Being Depreciated (cost)
Land Improvements (exhaustible) 12,611,611        -                       1,235,214      (184,384)      13,662,441        
Buildings 65,872,489        -                       2,599,071      (317,361)      68,154,199        
Machinery and Equipment 61,227,202        1,626,986      9,159,981      (1,959,396)   70,054,773        
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 139,711,302     1,626,986      12,994,266    (2,461,141)   151,871,413     

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:
Land Improvements (exhaustible) (7,574,562)         (503,267)        -                       184,384       (7,893,445)         
Buildings (25,517,782)      (2,183,460)     -                       284,743       (27,416,499)      
Machinery and Equipment (44,191,525)      (3,681,979)     -                       1,681,805    (46,191,698)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (77,283,869)      (6,368,706)     -                       2,150,932    (81,501,642)      
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, net 62,427,432        (4,741,720)     12,994,266    (310,208)      70,369,771        
Total Capital Assets 569,354,923$   36,615,103    -                       (1,181,700)   604,788,325$   
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 4 – Letter of Credit 
 
The Authority has a $20 million letter of credit with Bangor Savings Bank which expires on December 31, 2018.  It 
is secured under the General Resolution solely by the Authority’s Revenues (as defined therein) on a subordinated 
basis to the Authority’s outstanding bonds and additional bonds to be issued on a senior basis, all in accordance 
with the Resolution.  There was no outstanding balance on the letter of credit as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
 
Note 5 – Net Position 
 
Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources.  Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, 
reduced by the outstanding balances of bonds and adding back any unspent proceeds.  Net position is reported as 
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislations or through 
external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. The Authority’s 
net investment in capital assets was calculated as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 6 – Long-term Debt 
  
Revenue Bonds Payable 

The Authority issues revenue bonds from time to time for the purpose of financing capital improvements and new 
projects. As of December 31, 2017, the Authority had the following outstanding bonds: 

•  $115,050,000 of Series 2004 Revenue Bonds, issued in October 2004, to pay a portion of the costs of 
various turnpike projects and to advance refund a portion of the principal amount of the Series 1994, 1997 and 
2000 bonds. 

 
• $45,885,000 of Series 2008 Refunding Revenue Bonds, issued in May 2008, to advance refund principal amounts 

of the Series 1998 Refunding Bonds, which was called in July 2008. 
 
•  $50,000,000 of Series 2009 Revenue Bonds, issued in February 2009, to pay a portion of the costs of 

various turnpike projects, interest only until 2014. 
 
• $68,990,000 of Series 2012A Revenue Bonds, issued in March 2012, to pay a portion of the costs of 

various turnpike projects.  
 
 
 
 

2017 2016
Capital Assets 716,402,982$     686,289,967$     
Accumulated Depreciation (86,891,468)        (81,501,642)        
Bonds Payable (335,700,000)      (353,255,000)      
Total Net Investment In Capital Assets 293,811,514$     251,533,325$     

Years Ended December 31,
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued  
 
Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued 
 Revenue Bonds Payable, continued 
 
• $84,240,000 of Series 2012B Revenue Refunding Bonds.  The proceeds from the bonds were used to advance 

refund all of the Series 2003 Bonds maturing in the years 2014 through 2033, and a portion of the Series 2004 
Bonds maturing in the years 2022 through 2030, in the outstanding principal amount of $87,055,000.   

 
• $39,715,000 of Series 2014 Revenue Refunding Bonds, issued in July 2014. The proceeds from the bonds were 

used to advance refund a portion of principal amounts of the Series 2004 maturing in the years 2015 through 
2020 and Series 2007 maturing in the years 2018 through 2024, in the outstanding principal amount of 
$43,765,000.   

 
• $144,875,000 of Series 2015 Revenue Refunding Bonds, issued in April 2015.  The proceeds from the bonds were 

used to refund the principal amounts of the Series 2005 Bonds maturing in the years 2016 through 2030; Series 
2007 Bonds maturing in the years 2025 through 2035; and Series 2009 Bonds maturing 2020 through 2038 

 
Interest on all bonds is payable semi-annually on January 1st and July 1st of each year. The bonds will mature on 
July 1st in the years and principal amounts noted below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Requirements for the repayment of the outstanding revenue bonds are as follows: 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Year Ending Principal Interest
Total debt 

service

2018 18,270,000        15,250,903              33,520,903            
2019 13,740,000        14,360,890              28,100,890            
2020 14,750,000        13,681,965              28,431,965            
2021 16,020,000        12,989,890              29,009,890            
2022 17,050,000        12,214,140              29,264,140            
2023-2027 98,860,000        47,964,500              146,824,500          
2028-2032 90,815,000        25,883,428              116,698,428          
2033-2037 44,445,000        11,893,188              56,338,188            
2038-2042 21,750,000        3,130,000                24,880,000            

Totals 335,700,000$    157,368,904$         493,068,904$        

Issue Amount Issued Maturity Date Interest Rate Balance 12/31/2017

Series 2004 115,050,000$         7/1/2005 - 2030  3.00-5.25 % 12,535,000$                   
Series 2008 45,885,000              7/1/2010 - 2018  3.00-5.00 % 6,475,000                        
Series 2009 50,000,000              7/1/2014 - 2038  3.00-6.00 % 2,595,000                        
Series 2012 (A & B) 153,230,000            7/1/2014 - 2042 2.00-5.00 % 145,700,000                   
Series 2014 39,715,000              7/1/2015 - 2024 2.00-5.00% 23,520,000                     
Series 2015 144,875,000            7/1/2015 - 2038 2.90-5.00 % 144,875,000                   

335,700,000$                Total Revenue Bonds Payable
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued  
 
Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued 
 Revenue Bonds Payable, continued 
 
A summary of changes in revenue bonds is as follows: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special Obligation Bonds Payable 

• $19,480,000 of Series 2008 Special Obligation Refunding Bonds, issued in May 2008, to refund all of the Authority’s 
outstanding Series 1998 Special Obligation Bonds. The Special Obligation Refunding Bonds are subordinate to the 
outstanding Revenue Bonds and were originally issued in 1996. 
 
• $27,555,000 of Series 2014 Special Obligation Bonds, issued in July 2014, to purchase a section of Interstate 95 in 
Kittery extending approximately 1.9 miles from the current southern end of the Turnpike to the abutment of the 
bridge over the Piscataqua River at the New Hampshire Border.  This Kittery segment of the Interstate was 
maintained by the Authority under contract with Maine DOT and the Authority was reimbursed for the costs 
associated with upkeep of this section of the Interstate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issue Amount Issued Maturity Date Interest Rate Balance 12/31/2017

Series 2008 19,480,000$          7/1/2009 - 2018  3.00-4.00 % 2,370,000$                    
Series 2014 27,555,000             7/1/2019 - 2034  3.00-5.00 % 27,555,000                    

29,925,000$                 Total Special Obligation Bonds Payable

Issue 12/31/2016 Additions Reductions 12/31/2017

Series 2004 15,290,000$             -$                   (2,755,000)       12,535,000$            
Series 2007 1,245,000                 -                     (1,245,000)       -                                  
Series 2008 12,650,000               -                     (6,175,000)       6,475,000                 
Series 2009 3,830,000                 -                     (1,235,000)       2,595,000                 
Series 2012 147,695,000             -                     (1,995,000)       145,700,000            
Series 2014 27,670,000               (4,150,000)       23,520,000              
Series 2015 144,875,000             -                     -                          144,875,000            

Totals 353,255,000$          -$                   (17,555,000)$   335,700,000$          
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued  
 
Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued 
 Special Obligation Bonds Payable, continued 
 
 Requirements for the repayment of the outstanding special obligation bonds are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A summary of changes in special obligation bonds is as follows: 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Changes in Revenue and Special Obligation long-term liability for the year ended December 31, 2017, was as 
follows: 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issue 12/31/2016 Additions Reductions 12/31/2017

Series 2008 4,645,000$                 -$                (2,275,000)$     2,370,000$                 
Series 2014 27,555,000                 -                   -                      27,555,000                 

Totals 32,200,000$              -$                (2,275,000)$     29,925,000$               

Bond Type 12/31/2016 Additions Reductions 12/31/2017
Due within 

one year

Revenue Bonds 353,255,000$  -$                   (17,555,000)$   335,700,000$  18,270,000$ 
Special Obligation Bonds 32,200,000      -                     (2,275,000)        29,925,000      2,370,000      

Subtotal 385,455,000    -                     (19,830,000)     365,625,000    20,640,000    

Adjustment for Premium / Discounts 35,352,616      -                     (4,322,934)        31,029,682      -                  
Total 420,807,616$  -$                   (24,152,934)$   396,654,682$  20,640,000$ 

Year Ending Principal Interest Total Debt Service

2018 2,370,000             1,332,300             3,702,300               
2019 1,205,000             1,237,500             2,442,500               
2020 1,265,000             1,177,250             2,442,250               
2021 1,330,000             1,114,000             2,444,000               
2022 1,385,000             1,060,800             2,445,800               
2023 - 2027 7,985,000             4,228,600             12,213,600             
2028 - 2032 9,845,000             2,372,050             12,217,050             
2033 - 2034 4,540,000             343,250                4,883,250               

Totals 29,925,000$        12,865,750$        42,790,750$          
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued 
 
 
Changes in Revenue and Special Obligation long-term liability for the year ended December 31, 2016, was as 
follows: 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 7 – Debt Service Reserve Fund 
 
The general bond resolution requires the Authority to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with cash and 
investments or with a surety policy or letter of credit.  In order to satisfy this requirement, the Authority acquired 
surety policies issued by Financial Security Assurance, Inc. (FSA), and AMBAC Assurance Corporation. The surety 
policies cover various series and terminate on various dates in the future.  A summary of the surety policies 
purchased is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Each of the providers of the Debt Service Reserve Fund surety policies was rated Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by 
Standard & Poor’s (S&P) at the time of issuance of its respective policy.  However, Ambac and FSA have been 
downgraded significantly as a result of their exposure to the 2008 sub-prime mortgage risk and do not maintain 
ratings by Moody’s and S&P at least equal to the ratings on the Authority’s outstanding revenue bonds.  
              
Accordingly, the policy from Ambac, while still in effect, no longer qualifies under the general bond resolution to 
meet the Debt Service Reserve Fund requirement.  In 2017, FSA, now Assured Guaranty, was upgraded by Moody’s 
and now meets the debt service reserve fund requirements towards one half of maximum annual debt service 
(MADS) 

Debt Service Reserve 
Fund Surety Policy 

Provider Series Availability
Termination 

Date
 Maximum 

Amount 

Assured Guarantee/FSA 2004 July 1, 2021 1,781,929$   

Ambac All Turnpike Revenue Bonds July 1, 2030 4,871,359$   

Assured Guarantee/FSA All Turnpike Revenue Bonds July 1, 2018 2,308,902$   

Bond Type 12/31/2015 Additions Reductions 12/31/2016
Due within 

one year

Revenue Bonds 369,760,000$  -                     (16,505,000)$   353,255,000$  17,555,000$ 
Special Obligation Bonds 34,395,000      -                     (2,195,000)        32,200,000      2,275,000      

Subtotal 404,155,000    -                     (18,700,000)      385,455,000    19,830,000    

Adjustment for Premium / Discounts 39,983,505      -                     (4,630,889)        35,352,616      -                  
Total 444,138,505$  -$                   (23,330,889)$   420,807,616$  19,830,000$ 
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 7 – Debt Service Reserve Fund, continued 
 
As of December 31, 2017, the Debt Service Reserve requirement was $16,821,933, which is one half of MADS.  The 
debt service reserve fund is currently funded with a combination of cash and Assured Guaranty/FSA sureties.  
 
Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan 
 
Plan Descriptions 

The Authority contributes to the Maine Public Employees Retirement System, as part of the PLD Consolidated Plan 
(the Plan) which is a cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan.  The Plan was established as the 
administrator of a public employee retirement system under the Laws of the State of Maine.  The PLD Plan covers 
300 participating employers.  The Authority’s full-time and permanent part-time employees are eligible to 
participate in the Plan. 

Benefit terms are established by Maine statute, in the case of the PLD Plan, an advisory group, also established by 
statute, reviews the terms of the Plan and periodically makes recommendations to the legislature to amend them.  
The Plan’s retirement programs provide defined retirement benefits based on members' average final 
compensation and service credit earned as of retirement.  Vesting (i.e., eligibility for benefits upon reaching 
qualification) occurs upon the earning of five years of service credit (effective October 1, 1999, the prior ten year 
requirement was reduced by legislative action to five years).  In some cases, vesting occurs on the earning of one 
year of service credit immediately preceding retirement at or after normal retirement age.  For PLD Plan members, 
normal retirement age is 60 for members hired before July 1, 2014. Normal retirement age is 65 for members hired 
on or after July 1, 2014.  The monthly benefit of members who retire before normal retirement age by virtue of 
having at least 25 years of service credit is reduced by a statutorily prescribed factor for each year of age that a 
member is below her/his normal retirement age at retirement.  The Plan also provides disability and death benefits 
which are established by statute for State employee members and by contract with other participating employers 
under applicable statutory provisions. 

Upon termination of membership, members' accumulated employee contributions are refundable with interest, 
credited in accordance with statute.  Withdrawal of accumulated contributions results in forfeiture of all benefits 
and membership rights.  The annual rate of interest credited to members' accounts is set by the Plan's Board of 
Trustees and is currently 2.45%. 

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority's total payroll for all employees was $24,130,708 
and $23,094,392, respectively and total covered payroll was $22,246,620 and $20,397,862, respectively for the PLD 
Plan.  Covered payroll refers to all compensation paid by the Authority to active employees covered by the Plan. 
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, 
continued 
 

Contributions 

The contribution requirements of the PLD Plan members are defined by law or the Plan's Board.  Employees of the 
Authority are required to contribute 8.0% of covered compensation to the PLD Plan.  The contributions are 
deducted from the employee’s wages or salary and remitted by the Authority to the Plan on a monthly basis. 
Employer contribution rates are determined through actuarial valuations.  The Authority's required contribution 
rate for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, was between 9.5% and 9.6% of annual payroll, actuarially 
determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of 
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  
The Authority’s contributions to the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $2,285,861 and 
$2,034,516, respectively. 

 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions  

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority reported a liability of $16,098,398 and $20,031,423, respectively for 
its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017 and 
June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by actuarial 
valuations as of these dates.  The Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of 
the Authority's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all 
participating entities, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2017, the Authority's proportion was 3.93%, which was 
an increase of 0.162% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016.  At June 30, 2016, the Authority’s 
proportion was 3.77%, which was a decrease of 0.166% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2015. 

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority recognized pension expense of $3,008,876 and 
$3,540,416, respectively.  At December 31, 2017, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, 
continued 
 

December 31, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 31, 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual results -$                         773,412$         
Changes of assumptions 1,369,872                -                    
Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on Plan investments 5,547,969                5,990,635        
Changes in proportion and differences between

contributions and proportionate share of 
contributions 640,663                   269,368           

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,039,221                -                    

Total 8,597,725$             7,033,415$     

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual results 242,828$         1,288,396$      
Changes of assumptions 2,147,419       -                      
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
on Plan investments 7,402,267       3,080,724         
Changes in proportion and differences between

contributions and proportionate share of 
contributions 429,145           404,052            

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,038,068       -                      

Total 11,259,727$  4,773,172$      
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, 
continued 
 

The $1,039,221 of deferred outflows of resources as of December 31, 2017, resulting from the Authority’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in 
the year ending December 31, 2018.  The $1,038,068 of deferred outflows of resources as of December 31, 2016, 
resulting from the Authority’s contribution subsequent to the measurement date were recognized as a reduction 
of the net position liability in the year ended December 31, 2017.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources will be netted and recognized in pension expense, (addition or 
(reduction) to expense) as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Total Dataset Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 valuations were based on the results of 
actuarial experience studies for the periods of June 30, 2012 to June 30, 2015. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce 
the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real 
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

Years ending December 31, 

2018 (53,353)$            
2019 1,566,479         
2020 108,004             
2021 (1,096,042)        

Total 525,088$           

Inflation PLD Plan 2.20%, per annum

Salary increases PLD Plan 2.75%-9.0%, per year

Investment rate of return PLD Plan 6.875%, per annum, compounded annually
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, 
continued 
 

Actuarial Assumptions - Continued 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.875% for the PLD Plan.  The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current 
contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at contractually required rates, actuarially 
determined.  Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make 
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return 
on Plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount 
rate of 6.875%, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.875%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.875%) 
than the current rate: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Asset Class

Target 
Allocation 

%

Long-term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return

Public Equities 30.0% 6.0%
U.S. Government 7.5% 2.3%
Private Equity 15.0% 7.6%
Real Assets:

Real Estate 10.0% 5.2%
Infrastructure 10.0% 5.3%
Natural Resources 5.0% 5.0%

Traditional Credit 7.5% 3.0%
Alternative Credit 5.0% 4.2%
Diversifiers 10.0% 5.9%

Total 100.0%

Discount 
Rate

Authority's 
proportionate 
share of net 

pension liability

1% decrease 5.875% 32,298,334$          
Current discount rate 6.875% 16,098,398            
1% increase 7.875% 3,902,357              
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, 
continued 
 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued Maine Public 
Employees Retirement System financial report. 

Note 9 – Operating Lease 

In 2006, the Authority entered into lease agreements with HMS Host and CN Brown to operate its five service plazas 
on the Turnpike.   The Authority entered into the arrangements as a means to provide services to users of the 
Turnpike in a more efficient, cost-effective manner.    The terms of the agreements are as follows.   The lease 
agreement with HMS Host is contingent based on sales, however, also provides a guaranteed minimum rent of 
$3,050,000 or 85% of the previous year’s rental, whichever is greater.  In addition, the Authority received contingent 
rentals of $853,117 and $489,113 in 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The lease agreement with CN Brown, which was 
renewed for a five-year term in 2016, provides for contingent rent based on sales.   The Authority received 
$1,082,988 and $998,824 in contingent rentals from CN Brown in 2017 and 2016, respectively.   
 
On April 1st, 2013 the Authority entered into a lease agreement with Maine Crafts Association for an area located 
in the Authority’s West Gardiner Service Plaza.  The lease agreement is contingent based on gross sales however 
also provides a guaranteed minimum rent of $500 per month from April 1, 2013 through April 30, 2015. Beginning 
May 1, 2015 the monthly minimum rent increased to $800 through the end of the contract on April 1, 2018.  The 
Authority received minimum rent of $9,600 from Maine Crafts Association in 2017.  There was contingent rent due 
the Authority for 2017 based on gross sales from Maine Crafts Association of $1,255. In February 2018, the Authority 
signed a five-year lease agreement with Maine Crafts Association commencing on April 1, 2018. The same terms 
and conditions from the previous lease apply. 
 
Contingent rent for HMS host is 20% of sales for years 1-10, 21% of sales for years 11-20 and 22% of sales for years 
21-30.  Contingent rent for CN Brown is based on the gallons of gasoline and diesel fuel sold at a fuel rent factor of 
8 cents per gallon, adjusted upward each year for the Consumer Price Index Change, plus 10% of the sales of other 
products, plus 5% of the sales of tobacco products and plus 2% of the amount received from the Lottery 
Commission.  The Authority has retained the right to approve the activities of the lessees and also has established 
limits to the prices that can be charged to customers.  Contingent rent for the Maine Crafts Association is 2% on all 
gross sales exceeding $500,000, and 4% on all gross sales exceeding $600,000.  
 
The lease agreement with HMS Host requires $8 million of capital improvements to be paid for by HMS Host, 
consisting of leasehold improvements, equipment and furnishings as approved by the Authority.  HMS Host shall 
make a reasonable effort to ensure that $4 million will be reinvested by December 31, 2017 and the remaining $4 
million will be spent by December 31, 2027. If the required amount of $8 million has not been reinvested by HMS 
Host by the end of the term, then the remainder of the sum shall be rebated to the Authority in cash. As of 
December 31, 2017, HMS Host has made investments in the facilities and the Authority is currently reviewing  
documentation provided by HMS Host to determine whether it qualifies as improvements under the lease 
agreement. 
 
The leased facilities are reported as capital assets of the Authority with a net book value of $27,885,048 and 
$27,145,128 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 



 

2017 Financial Statements – The Maine Turnpike Authority 

 34 

 

Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 9 – Operating Lease, continued 
 
Future minimum rentals to be received under the HMS Host lease as of December 31, 2017 are as follows: 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Future minimum rentals to be received under the Maine Crafts Association lease as of December 31, 2017 are as 
follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 10 – Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement Number 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting 
by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, was implemented, as required, by the MTA on 
January 1, 2008.  Under this pronouncement, it requires that the long-term cost of retirement health care and 
obligations for other postemployment benefits be determined on an actuarial basis and reported similar to pension 
plans. 
 
Plan Descriptions.  In addition to providing pension benefits, the Authority provides health care benefits for certain 
retired employees.  Eligibility to receive health care benefits follows the same requirements as MainePERS. Eligible 
retirees receive 100% paid health benefit coverage, Anthem POS plan until age 65 or Medicare Advantage plan at 
the age of 65.  The Authority paid approximately $1,526,000 of insurance contributions for approximately 282 
retirees for the year end December 31, 2017.  Benefit provisions are established and amended through negotiations 
between the Authority and the respective unions. 
 
GASB Statement Number 45 requires the Authority to perform an actuarial analysis of its OPEB costs.  In December 
2016, the Authority entered into a contract with an external consultant to assist in the determination and valuation 
of the Authority’s OPEB liability for 2016 and 2017.  The most recent OPEB liability actuarial valuation was 
completed by the consultant in January 2017.      
 
 

2018 3,050,000          
2019 3,050,000          
2020 3,050,000          
2021 3,050,000
2022 3,050,000
2023 - 2027 15,250,000        
2028 - 2032 15,250,000        
2033 - 2037 13,725,000        

Total 59,475,000$     

2018 2,400                  

Total 2,400$                
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 10 – Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB), continued 
 
Funding Policy and Annual OPEB Cost.  GASB Statement Number 45 does not mandate the prefunding of post 
employment benefit liabilities.  The Authority currently plans to only partially fund (on a pay-as-you-go) the annual 
required contribution (ARC), an actuarially determined rate in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 
Number 45.  The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal 
cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed thirty years. 
 
The following table represents the OPEB costs for the year, the amount contributed and changes in the OPEB plan: 
 
  
 
 
 
 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Authority’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB 
obligation was as follows: 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015 the ARC was $3,997,000, the actual contribution was $1,496,000 and the 
percentage contributed was 37.4%. 
 
 
 
 
 

2017 2016
Normal Cost 1,414,000$        1,369,000$        
UAAL amortization 2,548,000          2,366,000          

Annual Required Contribution/OPEB Cost 3,962,000          3,735,000          
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation 795,000              721,000              
Net OPEB Obligation Adjustment (1,477,000)         (1,246,000)         

Contributions Made (Pay-As-You-Go) (1,526,000)         (1,374,000)         
Increase in Net OPEB Obligation 1,754,000          1,836,000          

Net OPEB Obligation - Beginning of Year 19,866,253 18,030,253
Net OPEB Obligation - End of Year 21,620,253$      19,866,253$      

Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 3,962,000$           3,735,000$           
Actual Contributions (Pay-As-You-Go) 1,526,000$           1,374,000$           

Percentage Contributed 38.5% 36.8%

Actuarial Accrued Liability 47,912,000$         47,912,000$         
Plan Assets -                               -                               

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 47,912,000$         47,912,000$         
Covered payroll 19,692,000$         19,072,000$         
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability as a percentage of covered payroll 243.3% 251.2%

Years Ended December 31,
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 
 
Note 10 – Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB), continued 
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of 
events in the future.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required 
contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations 
and new estimates are made about the future.  The required schedule of funding progress presented as required  
supplementary information provides multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan 
assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 
understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and 
the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the Authority and plan members at that point.  Actuarial calculations 
reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term 
volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of plan assets.  Significant methods and assumptions 
were as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 11 – Union Contract 
 
In December 2016, the Authority signed three-year contracts with its two bargaining units, Supervisors and 
Employees. These contracts expire at the end of 2019. 
 
Note 12 – Commitments and Contingencies 
 
The Authority is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcomes of the lawsuits are not presently 
determinable, it is the belief of the Authority’s legal counsel that any settlement or damages assessed would be 
covered by insurance, and therefore should not have a material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial condition 

Future commitments on outstanding construction projects for improvements and maintenance totaled 
approximately $24,088,047 and $16,098,332 as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. 

Due to changes to enabling legislation in 2011, the Authority is potentially obligated to provide 5% of its annual 
operating revenues to the Maine Department of Transportation (MaineDOT).  The Authority has incurred and 
expects to continue to incur significant expenses from construction projects that will be of mutual benefit to 
MaineDOT and accordingly has met its obligation to MaineDOT. 

 

2017 2016
Actuarial valuation date 1/1/17 1/1/17
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal Entry age normal
Amortization method Level percent of payroll Level percent of payroll
Remaining amortization period 21 years 22 years

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 4.0% 4.0%
Projected salary increases 3.3% 3.3%
Healthcare inflation rate 5.0% - 6.7% 5.0% - 6.7%
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Note 13 – Risk Management 
 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to and destruction of assets, errors and 
omissions and natural disasters for which the Authority is insured through various commercial insurance carriers.  
As required by the Authority’s contract with its bondholders, the Authority’s consulting engineer certifies each year 
that insurance limits and coverage adequately protect the properties, interests, and operations of the Authority.  
Claims expenditure, liabilities and reserves are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount 
of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 
 
The Authority is self-insured for its workers’ compensation liability.  The program provides coverage for up to a 
maximum of $1,000,000 for each workers’ compensation claim and $25,000,000 in the aggregate.  In addition, the 
Authority purchases excess workers’ compensation insurance to limit its financial risk.  The Authority is responsible 
for claims made up to $750,000 per covered claim.  Reserves are estimated at one hundred percent of expected 
expenditures.  Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the past three years. 
 
The following summarizes the claims activity with respect to the Authority’s self-insured workers’ compensation 
program: 

2017 2016

Unpaid Claims as of January 1 2,742,391$           2,537,522$           

Incurred Claims 609,361                 606,929                 

Total Claim Payments 468,569                 402,059                 

Current Claims Liability 504,200                 411,400                 
Long-term Claims Liability 2,378,984             2,330,991             

Total Unpaid Claims Liability 2,883,184$           2,742,391$           

  
Note 14 – Subsequent Events 
 
In February 2018, the Authority issued $150 million of revenue bonds maturing in 2047.  Proceeds from the bonds 
will fund, along with cash from operations, the Authority’s five-year capital improvement plan. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Trend Data on Infrastructure Condition 

The Authority has elected to use the modified approach to infrastructure reporting under GASB 34.  The Authority’s 
consulting engineers are required to make an inspection at least once a year of the Turnpike, and, on or before the 
first day of October of each year, to submit to the Authority a report setting forth (a) their findings whether the 
Turnpike has been maintained in good repair, working order and condition, (b) their advice and recommendations 
as to the proper maintenance, repair and operation of the Turnpike during the ensuing Fiscal Year and an estimate 
of the amount of money necessary for such purposes, (c) their advice and recommendations as to the amounts and 
types of insurance to be carried, and (d) their recommendations as to the amount that should be deposited into the 
Reserve Maintenance Fund during the upcoming Fiscal Year.   

The roadways are rated on a 10-point scale, with 10 meaning that every aspect of the roadway is in new and perfect 
condition.  The Authority’s system as a whole is given an overall rating, indicating the average condition of all 
roadways operated by the Authority.  The assessment of condition is made by visual inspection designed to reveal 
any condition that would reduce highway-user benefits below the maximum level of service.  The Authority’s policy 
is to maintain the roadway condition at rating of 8 (generally good condition) or better.  The results of the 2017 
inspection states that the Maine Turnpike has been maintained in generally good condition and presents a favorable 
appearance.  

The budget to actual expenditures for Preservation for 2017 is as follows: 

  

 

 

Retiree Healthcare Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Issued 
Year

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 

(a)

Actuarial 
Accrued Liability 
(AAL) - Entry Age 

(b)

Unfunded AAL 
(UAAL) 

(b-a)

Funded 
Ratio 
(a/b)

Covered 
Payroll 

(c )

UAAL as a 
Percentage of 

Covered Payroll 
[(b-a) / c]

2009 1/1/2009 -$          39,815,000$       39,815,000$        0.00% 19,064,000$   208.8%
2010 1/1/2011 -            48,563,000         48,563,000          0.00% 19,699,000     246.5%
2011 1/1/2011 -            48,563,000         48,563,000          0.00% 20,093,000     241.7%
2012 1/1/2013 -            51,530,000         51,530,000          0.00% 17,114,000     301.1%
2013 1/1/2013 -            51,530,000         51,530,000          0.00% 17,670,000     291.6%
2014 1/1/2015 -            48,015,000         48,015,000          0.00% 17,851,000     269.0%
2015 1/1/2015 -            48,015,000         48,015,000          0.00% 18,431,000     260.5%
2016 1/1/2017 -            47,912,000         47,912,000          0.00% 19,072,000     251.2%
2017 1/1/2017 -            47,912,000         47,912,000          0.00% 19,692,000     243.3%

Budget Actual
Preservation Expense 16,137,645$            16,900,500$                 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION, Continued 
 
 

Maine Turnpike Authority 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 

Maine Public Employees Retirement System 
December 31, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maine Turnpike Authority 
Schedule of Contributions 

Maine Public Employees Retirement System 
December 31, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fiscal Year Valuation Date

 Authority's 
Proportion of the 

Net Pension 
Liability 

Authority's 
Proportionate Share 
of the Net Pension 

Liability

Covered 
Employee 

Payroll

Authority's Share of the 
Net Pension Liability as a 
Percentage of Covered 

Payroll

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a Percentage 

of the Total Pension 
Liability

2017 07/01/2017 16,098,398$           3.9318% 22,246,620$       72.36% 86.43%
2016 07/01/2016 20,031,423 3.7701% 20,397,862 98.20% 81.61%
2015 07/01/2015 12,529,254             3.9271% 19,263,547         65.04% 88.27%
2014 07/01/2014 5,724,658                3.7202% 18,906,556         30.28% 94.10%

Maine Public Employee Retirement System

Fiscal Year
Valuation 

Date

 Contractually 
Required 

Contribution 

Contributions 
Relative to 

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution

Contribution 
Deficiency 

(Excess)
Covered 

Employee Payroll

Contributions as a 
Percentage of Covered 

Employee Payroll

2017 07/01/2017 2,285,861$            2,285,861$               -$                    22,246,620$           10.28%
2016 07/01/2016 2,034,516              2,034,516                  -                       20,397,862             9.97%
2015 07/01/2015 1,739,777              1,739,777                  -                       19,263,547             9.03%
2014 07/01/2014 1,471,779              1,471,779                  -                       18,906,556             7.78%

Maine Public Employee Retirement System
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Calculation of the Composite Debt Service Ratio, as Defined by the Bond Resolutions and Related Documents 
(000’s)              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note:  Revenues and expenses are presented on this schedule on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Certain amounts included on the Statements of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position are not part of the net revenues, as defined, and therefore 
excluded from this schedule. 
 

1 Capital fund and Rebate Fund earnings are not included in investment income, consistent with the Maine           
Turnpike Revenue Bond Resolution. 

2  Represents Debt Service Deposits, net of capitalized interest, on the outstanding Revenue Bonds only. 
3  Net Revenues divided by Debt Service.  The Bond Resolution requires a minimum ratio of 2.0. 
 

 
Years Ended December 31st, 

2017 2016

Revenues:
     Net Fare Revenue 136,066$      133,822$      
     Concession Rental 4,997             4,548             
     Investment Income 1 1,042             505                 
     Miscellaneous 1,947             1,504             
          Total Revenues 144,052$      140,379$      

Expenses:
     Operations 24,716           23,786           
     Maintenance 13,519           11,809           
     Adminstrative 2,441             2,491             
          Total Expenses 40,676$        38,087$         

Net Operating Revenues 103,376$      102,292$      

Debt Service Payments 2 33,644           33,384           

Reserve Maintenance Fund Deposit 37,000           36,500           

MDOT Account / Sub Debt Fund Deposit 3,698             3,701             

Other General Reserve Fund Deposits 29,034$        28,707$         

Debt Service Ratio of Net Revenues to Debt Service 3 3.07 3.06
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION, Continued 

Statement of Activities for the State of Maine General Purpose Financial Statements (000’s) 

              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
            

 
 
 
 

Net Revenue 
(Expense) and 
Changes to Net 

Assets

Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for 

Services

Program 
Investment 

Income

Operating 
Grants and 

Contrib.

Capital 
Grants/
Contrib. Total

Governmental Activities

Subtotal Governmental Activities -           -                  -                    -                   -                  -                              

Business-type Activities:

THE MAINE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY 102,266  136,066         33,800                       

Subtotal Business-type Activities 102,266  136,066         -               -              -             33,800                       
Total 102,266  136,066         -               -              -             33,800                       

General Revenues:
Unrestricted Interest and Investment Earnings 1,168                          
Non program Specific Grants, Contrib. & Approp. -                              
Miscellaneous Income 6,944                          
Gain (Loss) on Asset Dispositions (123)                            
Extraordinary Item -                              

Total General Revenues and Extraordinary Items 7,989                          
Change in Net Assets 41,789                       

Net Assets, Beginning of the Year 282,916                     
Net Assets, End of the Year 324,704                     

Program Revenues


	The Maine Turnpike Authority’s Changes in Net Position
	Management Discussion and Analysis, continued
	See independents auditors’ report.
	The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
	STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION, continued
	See independents auditors’ report.
	The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
	STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
	See independents auditors’ report.
	The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
	STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
	See independents auditors’ report.
	The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
	STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, continued
	...
	See independents auditors’ report.
	The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
	THE MAINE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
	Notes to Financial Statements
	For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
	Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures
	Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued
	Note 1 – Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies and Procedures, continued
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Use of Restricted/Unrestricted Net Position – When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted assets are available, the Authority’s policy is to apply restricted net position first.
	Reclassifications – Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2016 Statement of Net Position to correspond with the current year’s format. The change in net position was not affected.
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Recent Accounting Pronouncements – In June 2015, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plan Other Than Pension Plans (OPEB).  This statement improves accounting and financial reporting for...
	In June 2017, the GASB issued GASB 87, Leases.  This new standard will provide users of the financial statements a more accurate picture of the assets and the long-term financial obligations of governments that lease.  Lessees will recognize a lease l...
	Note 2 – Deposits and Investments
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 2 – Deposits and Investments, continued
	Fair Value
	Fair Values of Assets measured on a recurring basis at December 31 are as follows:
	Note 2 – Deposits and Investments, continued
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 3 – Capital Assets
	A Summary of changes to capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2016 is as follows:
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 4 – Letter of Credit
	The Authority has a $20 million letter of credit with Bangor Savings Bank which expires on December 31, 2018.  It is secured under the General Resolution solely by the Authority’s Revenues (as defined therein) on a subordinated basis to the Authority’...
	Note 5 – Net Position
	Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.  Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outsta...
	Note 6 – Long-term Debt
	Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued
	Revenue Bonds Payable, continued
	Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued
	Revenue Bonds Payable, continued
	Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued
	Special Obligation Bonds Payable, continued
	Changes in Revenue and Special Obligation long-term liability for the year ended December 31, 2017, was as follows:
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 6 – Long-term Debt, continued
	Changes in Revenue and Special Obligation long-term liability for the year ended December 31, 2016, was as follows:
	...
	Note 7 – Debt Service Reserve Fund
	Each of the providers of the Debt Service Reserve Fund surety policies was rated Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) at the time of issuance of its respective policy.  However, Ambac and FSA have been downgraded significantly as a result...
	Note 7 – Debt Service Reserve Fund, continued
	Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan
	Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, continued
	Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, continued
	Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, continued
	Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, continued
	Note 8 – Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) – Consolidated Retirement Pension Plan, continued
	In 2006, the Authority entered into lease agreements with HMS Host and CN Brown to operate its five service plazas on the Turnpike.   The Authority entered into the arrangements as a means to provide services to users of the Turnpike in a more efficie...
	On April 1st, 2013 the Authority entered into a lease agreement with Maine Crafts Association for an area located in the Authority’s West Gardiner Service Plaza.  The lease agreement is contingent based on gross sales however also provides a guarantee...
	Contingent rent for HMS host is 20% of sales for years 1-10, 21% of sales for years 11-20 and 22% of sales for years 21-30.  Contingent rent for CN Brown is based on the gallons of gasoline and diesel fuel sold at a fuel rent factor of 8 cents per gal...
	The lease agreement with HMS Host requires $8 million of capital improvements to be paid for by HMS Host, consisting of leasehold improvements, equipment and furnishings as approved by the Authority.  HMS Host shall make a reasonable effort to ensure ...
	The leased facilities are reported as capital assets of the Authority with a net book value of $27,885,048 and $27,145,128 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 9 – Operating Lease, continued
	Future minimum rentals to be received under the HMS Host lease as of December 31, 2017 are as follows:
	Future minimum rentals to be received under the Maine Crafts Association lease as of December 31, 2017 are as follows:
	Note 10 – Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB)
	The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement Number 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, was implemented, as required, by the MTA on January 1, 2008.  Under this pronounce...
	Plan Descriptions.  In addition to providing pension benefits, the Authority provides health care benefits for certain retired employees.  Eligibility to receive health care benefits follows the same requirements as MainePERS. Eligible retirees receiv...
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 10 – Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB), continued
	For the year ended December 31, 2015 the ARC was $3,997,000, the actual contribution was $1,496,000 and the percentage contributed was 37.4%.
	Notes to Financial Statements, continued
	Note 10 – Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB), continued
	Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events in the future.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer ar...
	supplementary information provides multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.
	Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit...
	Note 11 – Union Contract
	In December 2016, the Authority signed three-year contracts with its two bargaining units, Supervisors and Employees. These contracts expire at the end of 2019.
	Note 12 – Commitments and Contingencies
	Note 13 – Risk Management
	Note 14 – Subsequent Events

